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ABUSES IN FEDERAL STUDENT GRANT
PROGRAMS PROPRIETARY SCHOOL ABUSES

WEDNESDAY, JULY 12, 1995

U.S. SENATE,
PERMANENT SUBCOMMITTEE ON INVESTIGATIONS,
OF THE COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL AFFAIRS,
Washington, DC.

The Subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:35 a.m., in room
SD-342, Dirksen Senate Office Building, Hon. William V. Roth, Jr.,
Chairman of the Subcommittee, presiding.

Present: Senators Roth and Nunn.

Staff Present: Daniel Gelber, Minority Chief Counsel; John
Sopko, Minority Deputy Counsel, Mary Robertson, Assistant Chief
Clerk; Alan Edelman, Minority Counsel; R. Mark Webster, Minor-
ity Investigator; Scott Newton, Minority Investigator; Harold
Damelin, Chief Counsel; Carla Martin, Chief Clerk; Christopher
Greer, Investigator; Sue Horner, Librarian; Jack Cobb, Counsel;
Michael Bopp, Counsel; Lee Mitchell, Minority Intern; Deval R.
Karina Zaveri, Minority Intern; Brian Dettelbach (Senator Glenn);
Cathy O’Brien (Senator Nunn); Mary Ailes; Ariadne Allen; Tim
Dudderer; Jim Taylor; and Richard Keenan. '

OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR ROTH

Chairman ROTH. The Subcommittee will please be in order.

This morning, the Permanent Subcommittee on Investigations
continues to probe the problems that persist in the Department of
Education’s Pell Grant program. We will hear today about the
fraud and abuse that continue to plague one of our Government’s
most well-intentioned programs. I commend the distinguished
ranking member, Senator Nunn, and his staff for their fine efforts
in exposing these problems.

Through previous hearings, this Subcommittee has revealed that
unscrupulous individuals have defrauded various Federal student
aid programs literally of millions and millions of dollars. By clever
schemes and lax Federal enforcement policies, these crooks have
been able to manipulate the system and steal our money.

It was only 2 years ago that this Subcommittee convened to ex-
amine Pell Grant abuses in certain Yeshiva schools in New York -
City. The fraud that was discovered was startling, but just as star-
tling was the ineffective oversight by the Department of Education
that allowed the fraud to continue. At that time, we were assured
by representatives from the Department of Education that nec-
essary steps were being taken to curb the abuses in the Pell Grant
program. While I do not doubt that certain good-faith efforts have
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been made in this regard, our presence here today indicates that
the Department has not done enough.

This_morning, we will revisit the area of Pell Grant abuses by
focusing specifically on the actions of IADE American Schools.
IADE is a for-profit vocational school that has campuses in the L.A.
area, and as we will learn today, the owners of the school, who are
not even citizens of the United States, defrauded the Pell Grant
program of millions of dollars. They managed to do this even
though the Department of Education audited the school in 1992 to
ensure that it was playing by the rules of the game. Remarkably,
the Department gave IADE a clean bill of health and never pre-
vented the school from receiving Pell Grant money. The Depart-
ment’s failure to uncover the ongoing fraudulent activities at IADE
cost taxpayers millions of dollars.

This Subcommittee has illuminated many instances of abuse in
Federal student aid programs, but we will never see true progress
until the Department’s gatekeeping and enforcement mechanisms
are improved. In our past hearings on student aid, we remarked
that because of ineffectual oversight, aspects of the Federal Gov-
ernment’s student aid programs have appeared to be policed by lit-
tle more than an honor system.

This hearing serves to remind us of the old adage that there is
no honor among thieves, even among thieves who hold themselves
out as educators and administrators. The question I want the De-
partment to answer for us today is why does the Department seem
to have so much difficulty catching them?

Congress must try to ensure that the Department of Education
diligently roots out unscrupulous individuals who masquerade as
educators in order to defraud our student aid programs. This is the
only way we can be sure that every dollar of Federal student aid
goes to legitimate students who seek an education from legitimate
educators. Unfortunately, it seems clear that the Department has
not succeeded in this task as well as it should have.

The Department’s problems stem at least in part from its own
managerial structure. The Department has unwisely divided the
task of awarding and administering Pell Grants among three dif-
ferent units within its own Office of Postsecondary Education. This
arrangement makes it impossible to pinpoint who is responsible for
overseeing the effectiveness of the program. It would be far better
if the Department clarified who holds responsibility for the pro-
gram because the buck must stop somewhere. As Congress has said
repeatedly, when Government fails to maintain accountability,
Government’s effectiveness is invariably compromised.

Today’s hearing will reveal problems which persist in our Pell
Grant program. It is my hope that the Subcommittee can continue
to work with the Department to correct these problems, thus ensur-
ing that the future of our students and the dollars of our taxpayers
are adequately protected.

Unfortunately, my role in the regulatory reform bill which is cur-
rently on the Senate floor will cause me to miss much of today’s
hearing. Senator Nunn, since you have taken the lead on this most
important investigation, I would ask you to Chair the hearing in
my absence.

10
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OPENING STATEMENT OF SENATOR NUNN

Senator NUNN [presiding]. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman,
and we appreciate all of your splendid cooperation and that of your
staff.

I will apologize to all who are listening today about my voice. I
have had a summer cold go directly to my throat. I do not feel as
bad as I sound, if that makes you any more comfortable.

Five years ago, Mr. Chairman, the Subcommittee began a series
of hearings examining the operation of the Federal guaranteed stu-
~dent loan program. Those hearings uncovered widespread fraud
and abuse on the part of many key participants in the loan pro-
gram, and also revealed serious deficiencies in the role played by
the Department of Education in administering and overseeing that
program.

As a result of those hearings, the Subcommittee issued a report
in 1991 entitled “Abuses in Federal Student Aid Programs,” which
was highly critical of almost every aspect of the administration and
operation of the loan program. The report contained over 25 sepa-
rate recommendations for reform, many of which were ultimately
incorporated into the 1992 amendments to the Higher Education
Act.

In 1993, the Subcommittee held its first hearing on the Federal
Pell Grant program. That hearing revealed that the Pell Grant pro-
gram was being undermined by many of the same systemic weak-
nesses that plagued the student loan program, and that those
weaknesses undercut the ability of the Government to deter, detect,
and pursue fraud and abuse by program participants. In particular,
the Subcommittee discovered that the Department’s gatekeeping
?nd program review functions were woefully inadequate and inef-

ective.

These inadequacies were particularly troublesome with respect to
the Pell Grant program because apart from strong and continuous
oversight, there are not the types of indicators in the Pell program
as there are in the loan program to alert one to the possibility of
ongoing abuse. For instance, when students have no repayment ob-
ligation, they are less likely to complain about the lack of quality
of the education that they receive. In addition, the lack of a repay-
ment obligation means that there will be no defaults, which within
the loan system have often been a key indicator of problematic in-
stitutions.

At the same time, however, the Subcommittee’s 1993 hearing ap-
peared to give at least some reason for optimism. The Subcommit-.
tee heard from the new administration of the Department of their
candid acknowledgement of past failures and their commitment to,
“make the program work better and frustrate the efforts of those
who would abuse it.”

Dr. David Longanecker, Assistant Secretary for Postsecondary
Education, testified at that hearing as to the Department’s efforts
to strengthen its gatekeeping and monitoring functions and to en-
hance their efficiency. He also promised the Subcommittee “a lot
better management,” and expressed the hope that he would come
back in a year or two to demonstrate that he has fulfilled that
promise.
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Here we are 2 years later, and we will indeed be providing Dr.
Longanecker an opportunity to discuss the Department’s manage-
ment, and I have read his opening statement and I will say that
there are significant plans that are being announced this morning
by the Department to deal with some of these abuses.

Unfortunately, that discussion will be taking place in the context
of yet another major failure on the part of the Department, a fail-
ure which led to almost $58 million of taxpayer money going to a
school that was little more than a Pell Grant mill. Moreover, it ap-
pears that the abuses of this school continued for a number of
years right under the noses of Department of Education reviewers,
auditors, and investigators who were on the site conducting exami-
nations of the school while the misconduct was going on.

Today, the Subcommittee will hear from the staff on its year-long
investigation of IADE Schools. IADE was a Los Angeles-based pro-
prietary school which offered short-term certificate-granting pro-
grams in computer operations, professional tractor trailer driving,
and automobile repairs. In 1989, IADE was certified as eligible to
participate in Federal student aid programs, including the Pell
Grant program. In a little over 4 years, IADE’s Pell Grant receipts
increased by over 1,700 percent. By the 1993-1994 award year,
IADE was the 16th largest recipient of Pell Grants of all schools
in the Nation.

The staff will report that IADE’s primary concern was the maxi-
mization of Pell Grant funds and, regrettably, not the training and
placement of students. Among the findings the staff will report
today are that many IADE students, including some who could nei-
ther read nor write, were enrolled in IADE courses, in apparent
violation of Pell Grant ability-to-benefit requirements.

Instruction in IADE courses was woefully inadequate due to a
lack of books and equipment, unqualified instructors, and defi-
ciencies in course design and curriculum. In the vast majority of
cases, placement of students was either ineffective or non-existent,
and IADE officials deliberately covered up this fact by creating
false records designed to mislead Federal, State, and accrediting of-
ficials.

IADE was engaged in abusive and possibly fraudulent practices,
including the falsification of student records, in order to obtain Pell
Grants for students who either had never attended or had with-
drawn. IADE’s owners used the school’s Pell Grant receipts for
such purposes as child support payments, leases on Mercedes Benz
and BMW automobiles, trips to Club Med, and purchases at Vic-
toria’s Secret. JIADE deceived and misled Federal, State, and ac-
crediting officials engaged in conducting official reviews of the
school’s operations, policies, and procedures.

As disturbing as these findings are, unfortunately, they are not
uncommon among many short-term non-degree-granting propri-
etary trade schools. Almost every Semi-Annual Report of the De-
partment’s Inspector General for the last few years has contained
at least 4 or 5 cases involving abuses of the Pell Grant program
among this sector of the educational community. Today, the Sub-
committee will, no doubt, hear of other instances from the Inspec-
tor General.
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In our 1991 report on “Abuses in Federal Student Aid Programs,”
the Subcommittee found widespread abuse of the guaranteed stu-
dent loan program within the proprietary school sector and we rec-
ommended that Congress should consider the feasibility of setting
reasonable limits on the-type of proprietary school education that
Federal dollars should subsidize. To date, such consideration has
not been undertaken. I think that has been a mistake. I believe the
time has come for the process to begin. In fact, it is overdue.

At a time when the Senate has passed a budget resolution which
calls for severe cuts in Federal student aid programs, we cannot
continue to suffer the waste of taxpayers’ money on schools like
IADE. Every dollar of Pell Grant money which goes to illegitimate
and abusive schools results in a direct reduction of the funds avail-
able to needy students to obtain a truly worthwhile education. It
is time we stopped treating these schools the way we would treat
Emory University or the University of Delaware.

That is not to say that all proprietary schools, merely because of
their nature as for-profit institutions, are illegitimate or abusive.
Certainly, there are legitimate proprietary schools that are commit-
ted to providing their students with a quality education. By the
same token, the Subcommittee’s hearings in 1993 revealed that
some non-profit institutions can also be abusive. Unfortunately,
there are too many institutions, the majority of which are for-prof-
it, that exist merely to take advantage of the Pell Grant and other
Federal student aid programs and that care little for the utility of
the training they provide. We cannot afford to subsidize such
schools with Federal funds.

While this hearing is important for the focus it brings to the par-
ticipation of questionable schools in Federal student aid programs,
it is also important for the focus it brings to the Department’s man-
agement of these programs. As I stated earlier, this Subcommittee
had high hopes for the Department at our 1993 hearing. I stated
my hope that the new Education team would give this issue high
priority and that they would give the Department the strong lead-
ership and management which it so clearly lacked and so clearly
required. :

That is why it is particularly disturbing to me to learn that the
regulatory system for which the Department is responsible is ap-
parently, based on this case, still incapable of either preventing
fraudulent institutions from gaining access to student aid programs
or of detecting and pursuing fraud by such institutions once access
has been gained.

As we will hear from the staff, during the 5 years that IADE par-
ticipated in Federal student aid programs, it was the subject of
over a dozen audits, examinations, investigations, and reviews con-
ducted by State licensing authorities, independent accrediting
agencies, independent certified public accountants, and the Depart-
ment of Education itself. At various times, IADE was found to owe
the Federal Government money for student funds it should not
have used. Yet, the school was never terminated from the aid pro-
gram until it voluntarily closed its doors and filed for bankruptcy
in March of this year, after our Subcommittee had been investigat-
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In conclusion, I would like to thank Chairman Roth and his staff
for the support they have given us for our continued pursuit of
these issues. These student aid programs are among the most im-
portant of all our Federal programs because of the opportunities
they provide to millions of young people to better their lives and
to be fully participating citizens in our political and economic sys-
tem.

I look forward to working with the Chairman and all members
of the Subcommittee to ensure that the focus of these programs re-
mains on these young people, and to do everything we can to en-
sure that both they and the taxpayers are protected.

Mr. Edelman and Mr. Webster, as you know, we swear in all the
witnesses before the Subcommittee, so I will ask you to take the
oath.

[Witnesses sworn.]

Senator NUNN. Why don’t you proceed with your staff statement?

TESTIMONY OF R. MARK WEBSTER, STAFF INVESTIGATOR TO
THE MINORITY, AND ALAN EDELMAN, COUNSEL TO THE MI-
NORITY, PERMANENT SUBCOMMITTEE ON INVESTIGATIONS,
U.S. SENATE .

Mr. WEBSTER. Mr. Chairman, we have a very lengthy statement
this morning that we would like to summarize and include the full
statement in the hearing record.

Senator NUNN. Without objection, it will be.l

Mr. WEBSTER. Mr. Chairman and members of the Subcommittee,
for the past 5 years now the staff has been reporting to the Sub-
committee on its investigation of problems with the management
and oversight of the Federal financial student aid programs. This
investigation began with an examination of the guaranteed student
loan program. That examination led to a series of hearings, begin-
ning in 1990, and culminated in the issuance of a 1991 Subcommit-
tee report which set forth what the Subcommittee termed over-
whelming evidence that the guaranteed student loan program, par-
ticularly as it relates to proprietary schools, is riddled with fraud,
waste, and abuse, and is plagued by substantial mismanagement
and incompetence.

The Subcommittee’s report contained over 25 separate rec-
ommendations for reform of the loan program. Many of those rec-
ommendations were ultimately incorporated into amendments to
the Higher Education Act which were passed by the Congress and
signed into law by President Bush in 1992. The amendments were
designed, among other things, to tighten institutional eligibility
and to strengthen the triad of State licensure, independent accredi-
tation, and Federal certification.

Subsequent to the passage of these amendments, the staff under-
took an examination of the Federal Pell Grant program. With over
$6 billion awarded annually, the Pell Grant program is the largest
direct Federal student aid program. The staffs examination led to
hearings in 1993 which revealed that the Pell Grant program was
beset by many of the same systemic weaknesses that plagued the
student loan program.

1See page 63.

14




7

In particular, the hearings focused on the failure of the Depart-
ment of Education’s gatekeeping and program review procedures to
prevent or detect fraud and abuse. These failures were of particular
concern to the staff with respect to the Pell Grant program because
apart from strong and continuous oversight, the Pell Grant pro-
gram does not contain any structural indicators to alert one to the
possibility of ongoing abuse by program participants. Indeed, as the
Department’s Inspector General put it during the hearings, the Pell
Grant program by its very design is vulnerable to fraud and abuse
because it operates essentially on the honor system.

The staff noted during the hearings that the Department’s In-
spector General cited a number of proprietary trade schools in the
previous few years for abuses which involved tens of millions of
dollars. One, in particular, JADE American Schools, attracted the
attention of the staff and became the subject of our case study.

In 1992, IADE, facing the prospect of being disqualified from fur-
ther participation in Title IV programs as a result of a rising de-
fault rate on its student loans, voluntarily ceased processing stu-
dent loan applications for its students.

Senator NUNN. Mr. Webster, let me ask you this question. How
did you choose IADE?

Mr. WEBSTER. Pretty much

Senator NUNN. Did you draw it out of a hat? Was there some sig-
nal that went off? Did somebody get in touch with you? Describe
how the choice was made to investigate this school?

Mr. WEBSTER. Prétty much out of a hat, using some basic guide-
lines. We wanted to find a school that had high default rates in the
beginning and subsequently, for one reason or another, dropped out
of participation in the loan program and participated solely in the
Pell Grant program.

I reviewed a lot of records from the Department of Education
looking for such a school and I ran across JADE American Schools
and noticed that they had a dramatic increase in the amount of
Pell Grants that they drew down since 1992 when they ceased par-
ticipating in the loan program. At the time we chose it, we did not
have any allegations that IADE had any problems. We just had in-
dications that they had rapid growth and started looking at them
based on that criteria.

In the 2 years prior to IADE ceasing participation in the loan
program, they drew down slightly under $4 million in Pell Grants.
In the 2 years following its cessation of loan activity, IADE drew
down a total of approximately $30 million in Pell Grants.! Just to
give you some idea of the size of the Pell revenue at IADE Amer-
ican Schools compared to some schools familiar to you, Mr. Chair-
man—Emory University, Georgia State University, and the Univer-
sity of Georgia—as you can see, JADE drew down much, much
more in Pell Grant revenue than any one of those three much larg-
er universities.2

The staff began its investigation of IADE in April of 1994. In the
late summer of 1994, the Civil Fraud Division of the Department
of Justice began an investigation of IADE. Subsequently, an IADE

1 Qe Aceiooo V2o A 40 3 PP G odas i O
Ve ApPPendIX A Lo Stail Stalement, page J0.

2See Appendix B and C to staff statement, pages 97-98.
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employee wrote an anonymous letter to IADE’s accrediting agency
in early 1995 alleging Pell Grant program abuses at IADE.

As a result of this letter, the accrediting agency undertook an un-
announced site visit to IADE, which led to the agency’s instituting
action in March 1995 to withdraw their accreditation of IADE.
Faced with the possible loss of its accreditation, an ongoing Justice
Department investigation, and the Subcommittee’s own investiga-
tion, IADE closed its doors on March 13, 1995.

IADE apparently expended much time and effort on maximizing
the amount of Pell Grants it could obtain. It seemed to spend little
time or effort on providing its students with a quality education.
Indeed, the only time IADE seemed concerned with its students’
education was when it had to demonstrate the nature of that edu-
cation to State, Federal, or accrediting agency reviewers.

The staff interviewed numerous students and instructors con-
cerning this issue. A common thread running through all of these
interviews was the poor quality of education offered by IADE.
While the staff found many dedicated instructors working at IADE,
their efforts were consistently undermined by IADE’s owners and
senior management.

The staff was told that automotive technician classes at IADE
often consisted of more than two dozen students crowding around
the engine of one single car, making it nearly impossible for each
student to see the part of the engine being worked on. One instruc-
tor told the staff that his students had tried to talk him into bring-
ing his car so the students could work on it in class. He stated that
he refused because he was not confident enough of his students’
abilities to let them work on his own car. An IADE student with
whom the staff talked was not so smart. He was convinced to bring
his own car for his fellow students to work on in class. He told the
staff that in the course of learning how to fix cars, they so ruined
his car that it never ran again properly.

However, when the time came for IADE’s reaccreditation site
visit, the school suddenly obtained a new engine for its students.
Unfortunately, none of the students was allowed to train on the en-
gine. Indeed, they were told that they were not even allowed to
touch it. When the accrediting team left the campus, so did the en-
gine. '

Senator NUNN. Does the accrediting team interview students
when they go to the campus like that?

Mr. WEBSTER. Yes, they do. Apparently, they didn’t interview the
same students we did. We had information that when the accredit-
ing team was there, IADE officials chose the students that the ac-
crediting team would interview. In other words, they filled the
classes that the accrediting team would visit with students who
were coached in what to tell or what to answer with respect to
their questions.

Senator NUNN. Did you have any trouble getting information
from students when you visited the campus?

Mr. WEBSTER. No, sir, we didn’t. In fact, after we arrived in Cali-
fornia, we were there a few days; it was like the flood gates opened.
Wiekreceived phone calls from many, many students very eager to
talk to us.
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IADE’s efforts to spruce up for reaccreditation visits were evi-
dently quite blatant. A Department of Education IG investigator
told the staff of accompanying officials of the State licensing agency
on an unannounced site visit to IADE. The investigator stated that
at the time they arrived, they found IADE in the midst of prepar-
ing for a reaccreditation site visit.

According to the investigator, as they walked around the school’s
campuses, they noticed that additional equipment was coming out
of the woodwork. Strangely enough, though, the investigator appar-
ently took no action to inform the accrediting agency of her obser-
vations, nor did she refer the matter for further follow-up by the
IG itself. The reasoning the investigator gave the staff for this was
that she had only been at IADE to act as an interpreter for the
State officials and had not been there in an investigative capacity.

Senator NUNN. Is she still working for the Department of Edu-
cation?

Mr. WEBSTER. To the best of my knowledge, she is.

Senator NUNN. And what is her job?

Mr. WEBSTER. She is an investigator, a criminal investigator.

In addition to failing to provide its students with a quality edu-
cation, IADE also failed to provide them with adequate placement
services. In contrast to its enticing advertising claims of over 70
percent placement and its promises to students of jobs with begin-
ning wages ranging from $7 to $15 per hour, IADE did little to as-
sist its students in finding employment in the fields for which they
had been trained. To hide this fact from the accreditors and the
regulators, IADE engaged in a pattern of deception and falsifica-
tion designed to make it appear that minimum placement require-
ments were being met. N

Students in IADE’s truck driving and computer, systems pro-
grams also complained about failed promises with re\gard to place-
ment. A review of a random sample of the placement records of stu-
dents in these programs shows the following results, which are on
the tripod now.! As you can see, one graduate, Edin, of the com-
puter operations course, is now a pit boss at a casino. Jose also
graduated from computer operations; now, he packs bags. Jesus,
another computer operations graduate, now works as a bartender.

IADE’s poor placement services almost led to the school losing its
accreditation in July 1992. During a reaccreditation site visit that
year, the accrediting agency not only found IADE’s placement serv-
ices to be deficient, but stated that the results of its placement ef-
forts are detrimental to its perceived integrity and stature in the
community.

Partly as a result of IADE’s problems with placement services,
the accrediting agency deferred granting IADE reaccreditation
until April 1993, pending receipt of additional information and a
follow-up visit to all branch campuses. When those follow-up visits
took place in March 1993, the accrediting agency reviewers found
what they termed a dramatic turnaround. What the reviewers did
not know, however, was this dramatic turnaround was the result
of an elaborate pattern of deception directed by the highest levels
of IADE’s management.

! See Appendix D to staff statement, page 99.
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A former IADE placement counselor informed the staff of what
she called a virtual dirty tricks crew which was used by IADE to
falsify and inflate placement statistics. According to her, 8 to 10
IADE employees were sent to the local courthouse to obtain names
of companies which had filed for bankruptcy. These companies
were then cited in JADE’s records as locations where students had
been placed, with the full knowledge that there was little chance
that any verification could be done.

Arnoldo Sanchez, another former IADE employee, told the staff
of other methods utilized by Bernardo and Sergio Stofenmacher to
falsify placement data and deceive the accrediting team in connec-
tion with their follow-up visit. According to Mr. Sanchez, he was
directed by Sergio Stofenmacher to disconnect one of IADE’s fax
machines and to answer that number as if it were a place of busi-
ness.

Another IADE employee then gave the accrediting team review-
ers the number, telling them that it was a number of a business
which employed IADE students. When the reviewers called the
number, Mr. Sanchez answered and confirmed that the particular
student in question worked there. Mr. Sanchez told the staff that
during the follow-up visit, everything was a show designed to cover
up IADE’s problems and to fool reviewers into believing that IADE
had come into compliance with the accrediting agency’s require-
ments.

Senator NUNN. Could you stop right there, Mr. Webster, and
just—you have been in investigations a long time yourself now. You
are an investigator, you are out there in the field, you have got
somebody who owns a school who is obviously trying to deceive,
and doing a pretty good job of it. What should the investigators
have done in those circumstances? You are looking at it now from
this perspective. What should they have done that they didn’t do
when they were out there basically being led down a fraudulent
trail?

Mr. WEBSTER. As far as the accrediting team reviewers, I have
no knowledge of their level of investigative expertise. Had I been
on the team, though—actually, if they are intent on defrauding a
reviewer, unless some flags go up somewhere along the way, it is
pretty hard to catch it. The reviewers looked at it on face value,
saw no indicators of fraud occurring, and didn’t check into it any
further.

Mr. EDELMAN. I might just add, though, Senator, that at the
time that this deception happened, it was on a return visit by this
accrediting team. They had been at the school only a few months -
previously and had found tremendous problems in the placement
area, so much so that they gave the school the lowest possible rat-
ing that it could in that particular area. And when they came back
in a matter of only a few months’ time, suddenly there was this—
as they themselves used the term, a dramatic turnaround. At least
in my opinion, one should have questioned how a school like that
cou}ddhave achieved such a dramatic turnaround in so short a time
period.

Senator NUNN. OK, you question it. You are skeptical. What do
you do then?

18‘
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Mr. EDELMAN. Well, try to talk to students, try to talk to stu-
dents of your choosing rather than students of the school’s choos-
ing.

Senator NUNN. Letting them choose the people you talk to is a
fundamental investigative error, right?

Mr. EDELMAN. I would think so, because you are always at risk
that the students that are given to you have been coached in some
manner.

Senator NUNN. How about talking to former students?

Mr. EDELMAN. Certainly, I think that probably also should have
been a step that should have been taken.

Senator NUNN. Any evidence that that was done?

Mr. EDELMAN. Not that we are aware of, no.

Mr. WEBSTER. No.

Mr. EDELMAN. We are also not aware of the extent to which they
actually tried to contact employers to verify placement statistics.
Basically, they just seemed to take what they were given by the
school at face value without taking into account this dramatic turn-
around in such a short period of time and believing what they were
told by the school. . :

Mr. WEBSTER. We also found it helpful when we talked to both
current and former employees. They had a lot to tell us, too.

The staff’s investigation has also revealed that IADE engaged in
a widespread pattern of altering student financial aid files, includ-
ing the forgery of student signatures on official forms and docu-
ments and the falsification of information on course attendance and
grade sheets. These actions were consciously undertaken for the
purpose of obtaining Pell Grants for students who had never en-
rolled at IADE and of avoiding making required refunds for stu-
dents who had enrolled but had subsequently dropped out. As a re-
sult of these actions, IADE improperly obtained and retained mil-
lions of dollars in Federal student aid assistance funds.! .

The staff discovered that numerous students who had merely in-
quired about IADE’s programs without ever enrolling unwittingly
became students in IADE’s records for whom the institution re-
ceived multiple Pell Grants. Such is the case of Maria Arana. On
February 1, Ms. Arana went with a friend to the Santa Ana cam-
pus of JADE to inquire about taking computer courses. After Ms.
Arana had talked to a couple of IADE employees, she decided not
to enroll in JADE. She told the staff that she felt that Anna, one
of the employees she talked to, had been too pushy and that she
seemed more interested in getting her to sign forms than in ex-
plaining to her what IADE had to offer.

Despite Ms. Arana’s decision not to enroll at IADE, it appears
that IADE nevertheless enrolled Ms. Arana. The chart?2 here shows
a no-show list with Ms. Arana’s name on it, meaning that IADE
American Schools expected Ms. Arana to show up for class because
she had actually enrolled. The staff examined IADE’s student
records and found Ms. Arana’s name on a list of no-show students,
as we just saw there.

1See Appendix F to staff statement, page 100
2See Appendix F to staff statement, page 101.
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An examination of IADE’s master sheets, however, uncovered ad-
ditional information relating to Ms. Arana which was quite disturb-
ing. Master sheets, of which we see one page of a master sheet
here, show, among other things, the particular classes that the stu-
dent has taken, whether the student has maintained satisfactory
progress, and the date and the amount of any financial aid re-
ceived.

The staff discovered that included among IADE’s master sheets
was this one for Ms. Arana.l The master sheet recorded Ms. Arana
as having started a program in English as a second language. In
light of Ms. Arana’s statement to the staff that she never attended
IADE, the only way in which IADE could have maintained the in-
formation which it had for Ms. Arana, and therefore the only way
in which it could have obtained a Pell Grant for Ms. Arana, would
have been through the creation of phony attendance and academic
records.

Can we go back to the previous chart, please?

If you look in the lower part right in the middle of the master
sheet—I realize this is difficult to see, but there is a square there
that highlights two payments of a Pell Grant of $1,150. So what
this is telling us is that IADE actually drew down $2,300 worth of
Pell Grant funds in the name of Ms. Arana, a student who never
attended IADE American School classes.

The staff found numerous master sheets showing academic
progress and Pell Grant disbursements for other students. We have
examples of 13 students, in addition to Ms. Arana, who were listed
by IADE as no-shows. The staff found no record of IADE ever hav-
ing made any refunds for any of these students, to include Ms.
Arana, and again we see here the $1,150 actually paid for Ms.
Arana.

Senator NUNN. Are those checks made out, the Pell Grant
checks, to the student and the school, or are they made out directly
to the school? Did she have to sign any of those checks?

Mr. WEBSTER. In IADE’s case, the students normally sign the
check directly over to the schools.
hSenator NUNN. So she had to sign the checks before they cashed
them?

Mr. EDELMAN. Well, the Pell Grant system works on a draw-
down basis where the school—it is really sort of an electronic funds
transfer where the school is able electronically to draw down funds
from the Government’s accounts.
hSer}?ator NUNN. Without the student ever having signed any-
thing?

Mr. EDELMAN. The money is then supposed to be applied to the
student’s account to cover whatever tuition or other expenses the
student has with the school. If there is then any money left over,
that money is to be given to the student.

Senator NUNN. But the student never has to touch the check?

Mr. WEBSTER. The student doesn’t actually touch the check, but
the student does have to sign something. There is something called
an Electronic Student Aid Report that the student has to sign in

1See Appendix G to staff statement, page 102.
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order for IADE or the institution to actually cash the check or draw
down the money in the name of that student.

Senator NUNN. Well, did you ask this particular individual
whether she had signed anything.

Mr. WEBSTER. She never received anything, never signed any-
thing that resembled an Electronic Student Aid Report.

Sena;:or NUNN. Do you have a copy of the report that was filed
for her?

Mr. WEBSTER. We have no record of that report.

Senator NUNN. So before the Department of Education could put
money in the Pell Grant account for this particular individual, she
had to sign something, and that form had to be sent to whom?

Mr. WEBSTER. It is maintained in a student record at the institu-
tion.

Senator NUNN. It doesn’t go to the Department of Education?
They don’t see a copy of it?

Mr. WEBSTER. No, they don’t.

Senator NUNN. So they are really taking the word of the school,
is that right?

Mr. WEBSTER. They are taking the word of the school that the
form is actually signed by the student.

Senator NUNN. So the student doesn’t enter into the picture at
all in- this equation?

Mr. WEBSTER. In this case, no, it didn’t.

Mr. EDELMAN. The forms are handled by a processor on the part-
of the Government who reviews the forms, and then the forms are
sent back and the student is supposed to verify the information
that is on the form and then sign it and return it to the school,
and then the school is to maintain the signed copy. - _

Senator NUNN. Do student loans work the same way? The stu-
dent actually has to sign, I am sure, to get a loan, right?

.Mr. EDELMAN. Given the recent changes, that may be a question
best put to the witnesses to come from the Department of Edu-
cation. We haven’t looked that closely at the processes of the loan
program in the last couple of years to give you a proper answer to
that, I think. ’

_Senator NUNN. Well, by law, you can’t make a loan unless you
sign a paper.

Mr. EDELMAN. Oh, certainly. You would have to have the student
verify the financial information and all on that and there would be
a promissory note as well.

Senator NUNN. Well, I will ask our Education witnesses later
about exactly how that transfer of money on Pell Grants works,
whether the student herself has to participate in that, whether the
student actually ever sees the money or actually has to sign some-
th}ilnglthat goes to the Department, in lieu of just staying with the
school.

Mr. EDELMAN. One of the key things to keep in mind here, also,
is that the way the Pell Grant program works is that the schools
are allowed to draw down this Pell money in advance—I believe,
it is 21 days in advance of the student actually starting classes. If
a student is a no-show or never attends, then the school is obvi-
ously under a requirement to reimburse that money, refund it to
the Department.

e R
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That is where you get into the whole issue, which happened with
IADE in a number of instances, where the school, because of defi-
ciencies, was put on what is known as the payment by reimburse-
ment system. This means that rather than being allowed the privi-
lege of drawing down money in advance of a student’s enrollment,
the school is required to prove to the Department for each student
that the student actually did enroll and began classes before the
school can collect the money for that student.

Senator NUNN. OK.

Mr. WEBSTER. Senator, giving IADE the benefit of the doubt,
thinking, well, maybe human error—all this happened, all these
forms were filled out. Indications were that they received $2,300 in
a Pell Grant for Ms. Arana. We wanted to check with the Depart-
ment of Education to make sure that $2,300 had been drawn down
in the name of this student, so we requested a student payment
summary, looking for Ms. Arana’s name, and unfortunately her
name was there. So, in fact, $2,300 worth of Pell Grant funds was
drawn down in her name by IADE American Schools.

IADE’s fabrication of records to create enrolled students was bla-
tant and intentional. Moreover, this fabrication went beyond the
creation of ghost students and included the falsification of records
pertaining to students who had, in fact, enrolled, but subsequently
withdrew or dropped out of school. If IADE received a Pell Grant
check on behalf of a student who had withdrawn before completing
at least half of his course, the information on the student’s master
sheet would be changed by IADE employees to make it appear that
the student had completed half of the course in order to avoid pay-
ing a refund.

The former financial aid director at IADE’s South Gate campus
told the staff that she was directed not to post no-shows or drops
at all because to do so would generate too great a refund liability
for which IADE did not have the money. Apparently, this delib-
erate failure to post drops and no-shows went on for quite some
time.

On July 14, 1994, Mr. Ken Williams, the former financial aid di-
rector of JADE American Schools, addressed a memorandum on
this issue to the Stofenmachers and IADE’s corporate counsel,
Gonzolo Frixes. Interestingly, this memorandum was marked “ur-
gent and confidential,” and stated that it was not to be shared with
anyone other than those to whom it was addressed.!

In his memorandum, Mr. Williams stated, “There are approxi-
mately 1,607 students who are no-shows, withdrawals, termi-
nations, etc., who have not been posted to the RGM system as no
longer enrolled. As such, these students when posted will create
approximately $1,035,310 in additional refunds.” Mr. Williams
went on to estimate that as of June 30, 1994, IADE’s total liability
in refunds due, including both posted and non-posted refunds, was
nearly $2.5 million.

Mr. Williams’ memorandum is amazing in its candor and pro-
vides perhaps the clearest picture of the types of abuses which
were occurring at IADE. For example, at the beginning of his
memorandum, Mr. Williams stated, “As you are aware, during this

1See Appendix H to staff statement, page 104.
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same period between 7/1/93 and 6/30/94 in order to increase cash
flow we eliminated a number of checks and balances which allowed
checks to print which would not normally have printed and/or de-
posited into IADE’s general fund.”

“Relaxing previously existing procedures allowed IADE to signifi-
cantly increase cash flow in the short run. However, in the long
run, the changes dramatically increase the amount of refunds due.
For example, many of the students for whom we printed and depos-
ited checks, should never have received any Pell Grants at all. Con-
sequently, as soon as the drop information is posted for these stu-
dents, we will be forced to pay back all of the money we received
for them. As I warned when IADE senior management first decided
to do this, the long term implications for refunds owed has been
dramatic.”

“It should be noted that it may be possible to move,” Mr. Wil-
liams continues, “some of these payments and postings back and
forth by as much as two to 4 weeks. However, the greater the delay
the greater the risk we run in terms of audits, excess cash, reim-
bursement and/or having our aid eligibility and/or license to oper-
ate terminated.” .

Perhaps most incredible is the concluding admonition contained
in Mr. Williams’ memorandum in which he warned of the con-
sequences of not correcting the refund problem. There, he stated,
“IADE will be required to undergo what are now annually required
student aid audits and will, as we have already been admonished
by the Nunn Committee, be required to provide audited financial
statements. These audits coupled with the audited financial state-
ments will, given the auditor’s familiarity with the RGM system,
reveal the unpaid refunds. Even if we retained an auditor unfamil-

_iar with RGM, the refunds would either be discovered during the
file review or would be discovered when the auditor, as required by
Federal law, met with RGM.”

And he continues, “Frankly, even once the refunds are paid, they
are already late. As such, the longer we wait to pay the refunds
the greater the risk to IADE. Our biggest dilemma is that though
we could once again relax check printing procedures to generate
more income in order to pay the 93-94 refunds, this would only
create more refunds next year and make the problem worse assum-
ing we could hide it for another year which, frankly, we can’t.
Frankly, in light of the Nunn investigation, if they discovered and
could prove that IADE had deliberately hidden refunds and pro-
vided false information to Congress, IADE’s senior management
could face criminal prosecution. I say this not to scare you, but to
point out as I have before that we have to fix this problem before
it is discovered by some outside agency.”

Mr. Williams also appeared at a video deposition conducted by
the Subcommittee staff and was advised of his right to have the

“benefit of counsel. When we deposed Mr. Williams concerning this
memo, he admitted that only a small percentage of the refunds
owed by IADE had actually been paid and Pell Grant checks had
been deposited without verifying if the corresponding Electronic
Student Aid Reports had actually been signed.

If we may, we have a short videotape of a portion of this deposi-
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tion where Mr. Williams describes the level of intent to defraud. I
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have to mention at this juncture that on the tape Mr. Williams be-
grudgingly admits to knowing that the owners were defrauding the
Government and involved in criminal activities. He admits to
choosing to remain ignorant of these activities and not reporting
them to any authority.

Mr. Williams was evasive and at times tended to ramble on in
his answers. As such, when editing this portion of the tape for this
hearing, it was sometimes necessary to cut off some questions or
answers. The full videotape is nearly 2 hours in length, and I
would ask to include it in the record.

Senator NUNN. Without objection.!

Senator NUNN. Now, what was his position at the time this was
made?

Mr. WEBSTER. He was the financial aid director.

Senator NUNN. Was the school still in existence when this video-
tape deposition was made?

Mr. WEBSTER. No, it was not.

Senator NUNN. It had already gone bankrupt?

Mr. WEBSTER. It had already filed for bankruptcy.

Senator NUNN. Was he still employed then or was he a former
financial officer?

Mr. WEBSTER. He is now the former financial aid officer.

Senator NUNN. What was he when you made the tape, former at
that stage?

Mr. WEBSTER. Former when he made the tape, but he currently,
aréi when we made the tape, is employed by IADE’s processor,
RGM.

Senator NUNN. Was he represented by counsel during this tape?

Mr. WEBSTER. He chose not to be represented.

Senator NUNN. He was fully advised he could be represented?

Mr. WEBSTER. Yes, he was.

Senator NUNN. Approximately how long is the tape that you are
going to show us?

Mr. WEBSTER. A little less than 5 minutes.

Senator NUNN. It is edited, right?

Mr. WEBSTER. Excuse me?

Senator NUNN. The tape is edited?

Mr. WEBSTER. Yes, it is.

[Videotape shown.]

Mr. WEBSTER. I also need to mention that Mr. Williams, prior to
being employed with IADE American Schools, was formerly with
the California State Guarantee Association.

As has been mentioned previously in this statement, IADE
American Schools took into approximately $58 million in Federal
Pell Grant money from 1990 to 1995. Based on what the staff dis-
covered during its investigation, it appears that very little of that
money was used by IADE to provide books, supplies, equipment,
placement services, or any of the other necessities of a quality voca-
tional education.

Much of the Federal money which IADE did receive was for stu-
dents who either withdrew or never attended, and for whom IADE
therefore incurred little or no expenses. In light of this, one would

1See Exhibit #5, page 157.
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think that JADE should have had no cash flow concerns. A closer
examination, however, shows that IADE has been in serious finan-
cial difficulty for ‘a number of years.

The staff also obtained a sense of IADE’s financial difficulties
from interviews with various IADE employees. Many told the staff
that from time to time, their paychecks were not honored by the
bank for lack of funds. Luz Zamorena, IADE’s former office man-
ager and director of personnel, told the staff that IADE’s financial
problems seemed to start about the time Sergio Stofenmacher came
to the school in 1990. Beginning in 1990, accounts which previously
had always been paid on time increasingly became past due. Ms.
Zamorena also confirmed to the staff that on at least three occa-
sions, once in 1992 and twice in 1993, her paycheck and those of
at least 50 other employees were not honored.

Where did the money go? Well, according to Mr. Sanchez, IADE’s
problems with insufficient funds often seemed to coincide with
those times when Abraham Stofenmacher returned to Argentina.
In addition to the statements of IADE’s employees, the staff’s re-
view of IADE’s general ledgers and check registers also provided
some interesting information as to where some of IADE’s money
was going.

The staff undertook a limited review of checks written by IADE
during the 6-month period of August 31, 1993, through January 31,
1994. During this time, IADE’s revenue from Pell Grant draw-
downs was over $8 million. The staff's review uncovered these pay-
ments before you for the 6-month period.1

The staff notes that Alley Parking, Basa Management, COTC,
and T&P Advertising, which received a total of almost $600,000
during this time period, are all companies owned by the
Stofenmachers. The payments to Mercedes Benz and BMW Credit
Corporation represent payments on leases of vehicles which were
used personally by the Stofenmachers. As you can see on this chart
here, it is a lease agreement for a BMW.2 While we have no prob-
lem with a corporation providing corporate vehicles for employees,
as you can see in the highlighted portion of this lease agreement,
which apparently is signed by Bernardo Stofenmacher, he initialed
the block where it says the vehicle is going to be used for personal,
family, or household purposes. '

Also of note during IADE’s payments is the—if we can go back
to the previous chart, please—is the payment of $2,541.50 paid
from the school’s account for child support payments. From what
the staff has been able to determine, these payments were made
to satisfy child support personally owed by Sergio Stofenmacher.

A number of checks were also written out in the names of the
individual Stofenmachers. Each of the Stofenmachers received a
substantial annual salary. Abraham received $146,000, Bernardo
and Alejandro received $200,000, and Sergio received $220,000. In
addition to their salaries, at least some of the Stofenmachers also
received interest-free loans from IADE. IADE’s financial statement
for the period ending January 31, 1992, lists $144,395 in advances
to officers.

i Arnand noma 107
18ee Anpendix 1 of gtoff statement, page 107,

28ee Appendix J to staff statement, page 108.
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By the time of the following year’s financial statement—that is,
for the period ending January 31, 1993—that figure for officer ad-
vances had ballooned to $379,833. A review of IADE’s general ledg-
er, however, reflects no repayments by any company officer, nor
was there any evidence found of such repayment. The mysterious
rise and fall and rise again of the figure for officer advances is per-
haps symptomatic of larger problems with respect to IADE’s finan-
cial accounting.

The members of the accrediting team found that IADE was ex-
tremely behind in its accounting. One of the team members subse-
quently told the staff that IADE’s accounting practices were so poor
that he didn’t think that the school would even have known if it
had bad debts. Indeed, the team member was of the opinion that
IADE did not have a clue as to what their financial status was and
that, as a result, it was just making up its financial statements.

If this is true, it certainly has serious implications not only for
IADE'’s ability to provide an accurate picture of its financial condi-
tion, but also for its ability to account for the millions upon mil-
lions of Federal taxpayer dollars which the school received over the
years. This chart! showing their total revenue versus the Title IV
funds that they received reflects what the team member’s opinion
was that they did not have a clue as to what their financial status
was.

If I may point out the year 1992 and 1994, when Title IV reve-
nue exceeded what JADE American Schools listed as their total
revenue in their financial statements.

Senator NUNN. How could that be? How could you get more from
one source than the total?

Mr. WEBSTER. The only explanation I have, Senator, going on
what the team member said, is they just did not have a clue and
they were simply making up their financial picture.

Senator NUNN. Did Mr. Sanchez tell you how the money was
taken out of the school, how Abraham took the money away? Did
he put it in a cashier’s check? What did he do?

Mr. WEBSTER. Mr. Sanchez told us that he thought, or it was
general opinion of other employees and Mr. Sanchez, that Mr.
Stofenmacher took the money out of the country in a suitcase to
Argentina, and he thought about $10,000 at a time.

Senator NUNN. Was that in cash?

Mr. WEBSTER. In cash.

Senator NUNN. After cashing the Pell Grant checks? How did the
money get converted to cash?

Mr. WEBSTER. Either through one of their other companies that
they owned, or taking it directly from IADE’s accounts. From re-
viewing the check register we have a list of 800 checks written di-
rectly to IADE, much as one would write a personal check for cash.
For, I think, about a 6-month time period, we found those 800
checks totaled $4.5 million, for which there is no explanation where
the money went or what it was used for.

Senator NUNN. He said he was taking it out $10,000 at a time
in a suitcase?

Mr. WEBSTER. That is what Mr. Sanchez said.

1See Appendix K to staff statement, page 109.
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Senator NUNN. That would take a lot of trips to get $4 million
out.

Mr. WEBSTER. From what we understand, he does take a lot of
trips to Argentina. He still has family down there.

Senator NUNN. Do you have any travel record?

Mr. WEBSTER. The only indication that we have that actual trips
were made was right after the school closed, we found that one of
the sons—in fact, the day IADE filed for bankruptcy, March 13 of
this year, one of the sons purchased a one-way ticket to Argentina
and has not been seen in Los Angeles since.

Senator NUNN. How many of the family remain in this country
now?

Mr. WEBSTER. Just one.

Senator NUNN. Who is left?

Mr. WEBSTER. Bernardo Stofenmacher is the only one left.

Mr. EDELMAN. At this point, Mr. Chairman, we would like to
turn to an examination of the role played by the various oversight
agencies which had responsibility for this school and for manage-
ment of the Pell Grant program.

Participation of institutions in Federal student financial assist-
ance programs is subject to a regulatory triad consisting of State
licensing authorities, independent accrediting agencies, and.the
Federal Department of Education. Each of these entities is respon-
sible not only for making determinations affecting entry into the
programs, a process which is known as gatekeeping, but also for
conducting continuing oversight to ensure that a participating in-
stitution remains in compliance with applicable program require-
ments.

Over the years, this Subcommittee has been quite critical of the
ability of this regulatory triad to prevent fraudulent institutions
from gaining access to the program in the first instance or to sub-
sequently detect and pursue fraud by such institutions once access
has been gained. Unfortunately, the case of IADE represents one
more example of a failure of this system.

From the time it first entered the Federal student financial as-
sistance programs in 1989 until the time it closed its doors and
filed for bankruptcy in 1995, IADE underwent close to a dozen au-
dits, examinations, and reviews by the California Council for Pri-
vate Postsecondary and Vocational Education, its State licensing
authority; the Accrediting Council for Continuing Education and
Training, its independent accrediting agency; and the Department
of Education itself.

Each of these audits, examinations, or reviews found problems of
varying degrees in one aspect or another of IADE’s operations. At
various times, JADE was found to owe the Federal Government
money for student financial assistance funds it should not have
used. Twice, IADE was placed on reimbursement for brief periods
of time, and once there was even some consideration given to ter-
minating JADE from the program altogether. None of the members
of the triad, though, ever seemed capable of understanding the full
extent of the abuse going on at IADE. . _

As a result, IADE managed to retain its access to Federal fund-
ing with little or no serious impairment of its activities until earlier

this year, when an unannounced site visit by its accrediting agen-
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cy, based on an anonymous tip, led to the termination of IADE’s
accreditation. By that time, however, IADE has taken in almost
$58 million in Federal student financial assistance funds.

While participating in Federal student financial assistance pro-
grams, IADE was subject to continual institutional monitoring by
its State licensing authority, its independent accrediting agency,
and the Department of Education. Any one of these arms of the
triad could have taken action against IADE which would have led
to the school’s no longer being eligible to obtain Federal dollars.
Unfortunately, none of them seemed capable of taking swift, sure,
and effective action to stop the ongoing abuses at IADE.

In order to participate in Title IV programs, an institution must
be licensed or otherwise legally authorized to provide a course of
postsecondary education by the appropriate agency in the State in
which it is located. IADE was licensed by the California Council for
Private Postsecondary and Vocational Education. IADE’s licensing
authority conducted its first substantive audit of the school’s oper-
ations in May 1993. This audit was initiated to determine IADE’s
compliance with applicable laws and regulations pertinent to the
administration of the school’s English as a Second Language pro-
gram. '

The licensing authority found a number of areas of non-compli-
ance in the course of its audit and directed IADE to undertake cer-
tain actions to bring the school into compliance. Despite IADE’s re-
fusal to comply with the licensing authority’s directives, and de-
spite the fact that failure to comply with auditing findings could
form the basis for denial of a license, the licensing authority never-
theless granted conditional approval to IADE’s ESL program until
June 1994.

The primary condition attached to IADE’s approval was that the
licensing authority would then conduct a follow-up audit prior to
the expiration of the approval. This audit was conducted in May
1994 and an audit report was subsequently issued in August of
1994. The 1994 audit contained a number of significant findings,
including the following: a failure to provide financial documents to
the audit team, or to provide them in a timely fashion; a failure
to satisfy financial responsibility requirements; a failure to pay re-
funds in a timely manner; a failure to provide requested informa-
tion pertaining to refunds; the disbursement of Pell Grants prior to
the processing date of students’ Electronic Student Aid Reports;
and the disbursement of Pell Grant funds without confirmation of
citizenship status. These are all indicators of serious institutional
problems.

In October of 1994 IADE requested and was granted a 60-day ex-
tension to respond to the findings of this audit. The licensing au-
thority found IADE’s response to be inadequate and informed the
school that it intended to pursue administrative action against the
school. By this time, however, it was already January of 1995, over
1% years since the licensing authority’s first audit of IADE had
discovered some of these problems. During that 1% year period,
IADE drew down over $10 million in Pell Grant funds.!

1See Appendix L to staff statement, page 110.
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If we could just go back to the previous chart for a moment, this
chart shows—the blue line represents a running total of the
amount of Federal funds that IADE was drawing down for the pe-
riod 1990 through 1995, and each of the notations along the line
of that chart show the various actions that were taken by the State
licensing authority during that time period. So you can see that
while the licensing authority was in there conducting its audits,
making its findings, granting extensions to the school to respond
to those findings, et cetera, the school was just racking up more
and more money and the meter was continually ticking.

Even the licensing authority’s decision to pursue administrative
action, though, did not bring swift results. Apparently, although it
has independent authority to license schools, it does not have inde-
pendent authority to revoke licenses already granted. In order to
do so, the licensing authority is required to refer the matter to the
California attorney general’s office. The attorney general’s office
then makes a determination whether to pursue an administrative
action seeking revocation.

On January 9, 1995, the State licensing authority sent a memo-
randum to the attorney general’s office referring the JADE audit is-
sues for such administrative action. By the time IADE closed its
doors in March of 1995, 2 months later, the attorney general’s of-
fice had not yet taken any action on that referral.

In addition to being licensed by the State in which it is located,
an institution must also be accredited by an independent accredit-
ing agency approved by the Secretary of Education. IADE was ac-
credited by the Accrediting Council for Continuing Education and
Training, a body known as ACCET. That accreditation was granted
on July 1, 1989. }

Once again, as I go through this chronology, the chart! that is
up here—the green line now is that same running total of Federal
funds that was going to IADE and the various notations show the
actions that were being taken by the accrediting agency at these
various times.

In July 1992, ACCET conducted a review of IADE’s operation in
connection with its consideration of IADE'’s reaccreditation. That
review found a number of areas of weaknesses, including the fol-
lowing: 1) IADE’s business plan was considered elementary and not
well thought out; 2) Numerous grade and attendance records had
been whited out or changed; 3) There was an indication of incon-
sistent charges being levied for tuition and fees; and 4) Student
records were found to be inadequate and placement services were
found to be inadequate. :

As a result, ACCET decided to defer a decision on IADE’s
reaccreditation pending the receipt of additional information from
the school and follow-up visits to all campuses. In the meantime,
ACCET received correspondence from the State licensing authority
in August of 1992 informing it of a State investigation of certain
complaints filed against JADE. On the basis of these complaints,
ACCET scheduled an unannounced site visit to IADE. This visit
took place in October 1992.

\ppendix M Lo staif statement, page 111.
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Among the findings from this visit were the following, which is
a quote from the site visit report. “The tuition appears to be set at
a level that given the length of the programs; [sic] it can be covered
exclusively with Pell grants. Students interviewed commented sev-
eral times that they are going to school free. Several students ex-
pressed frustration and confusion over how they are paying for
school. They stated that they were told to “sign here, put this
amount here, etc.” and then the first week of classes they were told
what they would be awarded. They do not understand that they are

-using two or three Pell grants, both partial and full, to pay for
their education.”

In light of the findings of this visit and several unresolved find-
ings from the previous visit, ACCET determined to continue the de-
ferral of IADE’s accreditation. At the same time, however, ACCET
directed IADE to show cause as to why its accreditation should not
be withdrawn. Had IADE’s accreditation been withdrawn, it would
no longer have met the requirements to be an eligible institution
for purposes of participation in Title IV programs.

Once again, however, IADE managed to dodge a potentially fatal
bullet. IADE’s response to the show cause directive apparently was
convincing enough to lead ACCET to believe that the school was
instituting the changes necessary to bring it into compliance with
ACCET standards. In addition, an ACCET follow-up visit in March
1993 found much improvement in a number of previous problem
areas. Describing these improvements, the follow-up report used
such terms as “dramatic turnaround,” “significant effort,” and “no-
ticeable changes.”

On the basis of IADE’s response and the follow-up report,
ACCET determined in April 1993 to vacate the show cause direc-
tive and to grant IADE reaccreditation. Of course, what ACCET did
not know in vacating its show cause directivé was that much of
what its site visit team had observed at IADE was a sham de-
signed specifically for the purpose of deceiving ACCET into believ-
ing that IADE was in compliance with the accrediting agency’s
standards. We have previously cited many of the ways in which
IADE carried out this sham.

In January of this year, ACCET received an anonymous letter al-
leging, “discrepancies in the operating procedures” of IADE. The
letter hinted at issues of no-show students, inadequate documenta-
tion of prior skills, financial instability, and failure to pay refunds
on time. ACCET officials viewed this letter as an urgent complaint
and scheduled an unannounced site visit to IADE. This visit took
place in February of this year.

The visit uncovered a number of serious problems, including the
following which were detailed in the evaluation team’s report: 1)

- Management did not demonstrate that its internal and external
governance was effective; 2) Management did not demonstrate that
the role of management was clearly defined, effective, or efficient;
3) The institution did not demonstrate a record of responsible fi-
nancial management with income sufficient to maintain its edu-
cational programs; 4) The institution did not demonstrate that fi-
nancial aid programs are capably administered, accurately recorded
and documented, and appropriately implemented; and 5) The insti-
tution did not demonstrate that tuition refunded and received was
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clearly documented and that cancellagon and refund policies com-
plied with Federal and State regulations.

On the basis of these findings, the accrediting agency issued
IADE another show cause directive on March 2 of this year to show
cause as to why its accreditation should not be withdrawn. By this
point, IADE had just about run out of time. Within a week of the
accrediting agency’s show cause directive, IADE had shut its doors.
A few days later, it had filed for bankruptcy.

In response to these actions, ACCET, in a letter dated March 16,
1995, withdrew IADE’s accreditation. The withdrawal of the ac-
creditation, however, came 2 years and 2 months after ACCET had
issued its first show cause directive to IADE, and in that interven-
ing time period IADE had managed to obtain over $34 million in
Pell Grant funds.

Perhaps most disturbing of the various missed opportunities in
this case is the fact that the Department of Education, despite hav-
ing three separate teams examining IADE in 1992, either failed to
comprehend or ignored indicators of the ongoing abuses at the
school. Had the Department taken aggressive action in response to
these indicators, it might have saved tens of millions of dollars in
taxpayer money.! Instead, a review of the Department’s actions re-
veals a tentativeness which ultimately led to the Department’s let-
ting IADE continue its activities with virtual impunity.

The Department’s first review of IADE commenced in March of
1992. This review consisted of an audit conducted by a team from
the Inspector General’s Office of Audit and lasted from March 2,
1992, until November 9, 1992. The objectives of this audit were to
determine, 1) “whether [IADE] American Schools’ programs were
eligible for SFA funds; 2), whether it had operated the SFA pro-
grams in accordance with Federal laws and regulations.” According
to the Assistant Inspector General for Audit, IADE had been se--
lected for this audit because of its recent large increases in Pell
Grant draw-downs.

Early on in the audit, the audit team began to receive allegations
of potential fraud and abuse related to IADE’s participation in Title
IV programs. Joe Tong, one of the primary auditors conducting this
audit for the Inspector General, interviewed Jorge Meza, the
former director of IADE’s Los Angeles campus. Mr. Meza stated in
his interview that he had participated in falsifying student grades
at the direction of Sergio Stofenmacher so that IADE could show
the satisfactory progress of its students necessary to ensure the
continued flow of Title IV funds.

In addition, Mr. Meza stated that IADE had altered ability-to-
benefit test responses to make students eligible for financial assist-
ance and had falsified its student placement statistics to meet Fed-
eral requirements. Finally, Mr. Meza informed Mr. Tong that IADE
had been, “fixing” student records since being notified of the im-
pending Inspector General audit back in February. In addition to
his interviews, Mr. Tong’s review of IADE files and documentation
ungovsred what appeared to him to be indicators of possible fraud
and abuse.

!See Appendix N to staff statement, page 112
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" Mr. Tong documented all of these problems in his audit work pa-
pers and sent a report of his findings to his supervisor, Mr. James
Okura. Mr. Okura apparently decided that these were not issues
of concern for the purposes of the audit, despite the fact that one
of the stated objectives of the audit was to determine whether
IADE was operating student financial assistance programs in ac-
cordance with Federal laws and regulations.

Despite his supervisor’s failure to see the significance of his dis-
coveries, Mr. Tong contacted the Office of the Regional Inspector
General for Investigations. Meanwhile, the audit was focusing in
on just two issues—IADE’s grading of ability-to-benefit tests to
qualify students and IADE’s maintenance of Pell Grant cash bal-
ances in excess of Federal regulations.

The Inspector General investigation which was launched in re-
sponse to Mr. Tong’s findings consisted of nine interviews with
former employees and students of IADE conducted from March
through August 1992. During those interviews, the investigators
were told of low grades that were whited out and replaced with
passing grades, of answers that were given to students taking abil-
ity-to-benefit tests, of documents that were created indicating stu-
dents passing tests for courses they had never even taken, of tests
that were falsified, of course assignments that were manipulated in
order to maximize Pell Grant awards, of textbooks in English that
were given to students for courses taught in Spanish, of placement
statistics that were falsified. One former instructor even told the
investigators that he had heard that IADE’s owners intended to
make as much money as they could in 1 or 2 years and then sell
the school. '

According to an internal Department document, on September
23, 1992, the Office of Inspector General indicated to the Depart-
ment’s Region IX office that it intended to ask the Department’s
Compliance and Enforcement Division to initiate termination ac-
tion against IADE. This would have removed IADE from any access
to Federal student aid funds.

In response to the stated intention of the Inspector General, the
Region IX office asked the Compliance and Enforcement Division to
place IADE on reimbursement. As you will recall, this is a system
by which the school must document in advance that students have
actually enrolled before the school could draw down Pell Grant
funds for those students.

Senator NUNN. Instead of drawing the money first, they have to
give the proof first and draw it later?

Mr. EDELMAN. Right.

The regional office subsequently decided to conduct a program re-
view to support the decision to place IADE on reimbursement. That
program review, however, lasted a total of 5 days. During those 5
days, the reviewers examined just 22 files for the award years 1990
to 1991 and 1991 to 1992. The reviewers did not focus on the alle-
gations which had been received by the Inspector General inves-
tigators. Rather, they appeared to concentrate on the same issues
the Inspector General’s auditors had concentrated on; namely, the
improper determinations under ability-to-benefit testing and the
maintenance of excess cash balances.
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The review concluded with what were considered to be minor
findings. Even though the reviewers did not consider their findings
particularly serious, IADE was still kept on reimbursement be-
cause of the Inspector General’s supposed intention to pursue ter-
mination or other serious action against the school. On December
8, 1992, however, the Inspector General decided not to press for
termination, and as a result the Compliance and Enforcement Divi-
sion of the Department removed IADE from the reimbursement
system, thereby allowing the school to draw down money in ad-
vance once again.

Despite the fact that the last substantive interview conducted by
Inspector General investigators was completed in August of 1992,
the Inspector General did not issue a report on its investigation
until July 1993, almost a full year later. The entire investigative
report consists of one-and-a-half pages. The report, written by Spe-
cial Agent Robert Gonzalez, states, “An investigation was initiated
in April 1992 based upon an interview of Jorge Meja [sic], former
IADE school director. Meja [sic] stated that IADE, 1) violated its
academic progress policy by not reflecting failing grades; 2) helps
students pass ATB tests; and 3) is not accurately reporting its job
placement rates. ‘

“IS interviewed Jorge Meja [sic], two other former IADE instruc-
tors, Ignacio Rosas, Sergio Castro, and former employee Edgardo
Rivas. In addition, various students were also interviewed. The
interviews revealed a pattern of abusive tactics in recruiting and
ATB testing designed to obtain maximum enrollments.”

“Also, the interviewees confirmed that IADE management
pushed staff to enroll as many students as possible and to report
student progress electronically so IADE could earn student finan-
cial assistance payments as quickly as possible.

“However, no person interviewed, including the original com-
plainant, made a credible allegation of criminal wrongdoing. Fur-
ther, a credibility gap in the objectivity of the former school em-
ployees was evident to the interviewers due to the circumstances
of their separation from IADE.”

The staff finds it strange that Mr. Gonzalez left out of his report
the allegations made by Mr. Castro and each of the other instruc-
tors interviewed concerning the falsification of grades, tests, and
student records. Perhaps most disturbing, though, is Mr. Gonzalez’
statement that, “no person interviewed, including the original com-
plainant, made a credible allegation of criminal wrongdoing.”

It is not clear to the staff why allegations of falsification of stu-
dent records designed to allow a school to collect Federal financial
. assistance for an otherwise ineligible student does not rise to the
level of criminal wrongdoing. Nor is it clear to the staff why the
Inspector General investigators did not pursue the leads offered to
them in their initial interviews to determine whether these allega-
tions were, in fact, credible.

Mr. Meza, Mr. Castro, and Mr. Rivas all provided the investiga-
tors with names of other IJADE employees who either knew of or
were involved in potentially fraudulent activities. There is no
record that the investigators ever interviewed these people, nor did
the investigators ever interview Ken Williams, IADE corporate di-
rector of financial aid, or any of the Stofenmachers.

Q
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Senator NUNN. Mr. Edelman, you have been in law. and inves-
tigation for a long time. How do you explain this? Does this mean
that the people at the Department, the IG office—these are IG——

Mr. EDELMAN. These are IG criminal investigators.

Senator NUNN. Does this mean they are inadequately trained?
Does it mean they are overworked? Does it mean there are too
many schools to regulate and they have to move from one to the
other? I mean, what do you deduce from this? _

Mr. EDELMAN. We have been told by the Inspector General in
discussing this with him that their office did, in fact, have a very
heavy caseload and that their agents all handle numerous cases at
the same time, and I think they may admit that perhaps they did
not take some of the steps that should have been taken in this
case. However, regardless of the number of cases that one handles,
I think that to state that the kinds of allegations that they received
in interviews did not rise to the level of criminal conduct is out-
rageous. I think clearly there should have been follow-up to that.

Senator NUNN. That is just unexplainable based on the allega-
tions they had?

Mr. EDELMAN. We certainly have no explanation for it. One
would think that IG investigators have a little more training in
criminal investigation and procedures than perhaps the program
review people, and so why they did not follow up on some of these
things and why they did not think that the allegations they re-
ceived were either credible or important enough is beyond the
staff’s capability to understand.

Senator NUNN. They were getting these allegations from employ-
ees and former employees?

Mr. EDELMAN. From both current and former employees of the
school.

Senator NUNN. In your investigations, and you have done many
of them, was this a tough one to crack?

Mr. EDELMAN. Not really. As Mr. Webster stated earlier this
morning, we selected this school not on the basis of any inside in-
formation we had, but merely because of the drop in the loan port-
folio and the rise of the Pell Grant portfolio, which is exactly the
reason the Inspector General selected this school to audit.

We went out to Los Angeles to conduct our own field investiga-
tion in April or May of last year. Just prior—a day or so prior to
going out on that trip—we received some of the information that
the IG investigators had received in the course of their interviews.
We took that and took the follow-up steps to pursue those allega-
tions, and the flood gates opened and we found everything.

Senator NUNN. Can you conclude from this that the Department
is understaffed or the IG is understaffed? Do you have any per-
sonal conclusions?

Mr. EDELMAN. Historically, I think, as the record created by this
Subcommittee has shown, there has been a problem of under-
staffing at the Department, although I think in the last couple of
years there have been increased resources granted to it.

Senator NUNN. Are the investigators adequately trained?

Mr. EDELMAN. We have found over the years a problem with the
training of the program reviewers in terms of their not being given
any training to give them the ability to detect criminal wrongdoing.
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These, however, were Inspector General criminal investigators,
which one would presume had a much higher level of training. I
am not personally familiar with the type of training that the IG in-
vestigators undergo, so I can’t speak to that. We have been in-
formed that since the time of this case that the IG has undertaken
some changes in the way it handles its investigations, so that hope-
fully another case like this will not reoccur.

Senator NUNN. Is this an area that is too complex, too many
rules, too many laws, too many regulations?

Mr. EDELMAN. It is certainly a very complex area, and I think
in previous hearings we have commented on the complexity of the
regulatory scheme of the student financial assistance programs.
However, I think a big part of what is necessary and perhaps what |
is lacking here is just that vigilance over the participating institu-
tions and perhaps a need for a healthy skepticism of what Depart-
ment employees are told by the institutions that they monitor. As
has been said in previous hearings by Department Inspector Gen-
eral witnesses, this is a program that is run on the honor system,
and unfortunately what we have are a lot of participants that are
‘not honorable, and I think those who oversee this program have to
realize that and have to approach it with that kind of an attitude.

Senator NUNN. Is the direct loan program that is being embarked
on now in the Department of Education also going to be run on the
honor system?

Mr. EDELMAN. From the indications that we have—and, again, I
believe the Department witnesses may be able to address this a lit-
tle better, but the information we have is that the system for the
direct lending program will mirror in many ways the Pell Grant
system in terms of schools being able to draw down the funds and
then being responsible subsequently for making any refunds for ex-
cess draw-downs. '

Senator NUNN. Is the direct lending going to cover proprietary
schools?

Mr. EDELMAN. As far as we understand, they will, if they meet
the requirements, be allowed to participate.

Senator NUNN. Have you concluded anything about proprietary
schools, short-term proprietary schools, in terms of their unique-
ness and whether they ought to be separated from the more tradi-
tional higher institutions of education?

Mr. EDELMAN. On the basis of the investigations that we have
done over the years both in the student loan program and now our
investigations here in the Pell Grant program, in terms of the par-
ticipation of these short-term proprietary schools, it seems clear
that most of the problems are in that sector of the educational com-
munity. Moreover, these problems still remain, even after all of our
years of hearings at this Subcommittee, even after all of the
amendments which Congress has passed to the Higher Education
Act, and even after all of the changes which the Department of
Education has instituted to deal with these schools. And perhaps
it is time to consider whether those programs should be treated in
the same way that we treat major colleges and universities, 2- and
4-year degree-granting institutions.

Senator NUNN. Did you find any pattern here of schools that had
been primarily getting their students funding from loans? After the
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1992 amendments passed and the Department of Education started
implementing those and cracking down somewhat on the loan pro-
gram, did you find a pattern among not just this school, but many
schoo‘;s in moving much more strongly into the Pell Grant pro-
am?

gTMr. EDELMAN. Well, that was one of the primary concerns that
motivated our look at the Pell Grant program, that being that once
Congress passed the 1992 amendments, which in many ways tight-
ened up the eligibility requirements for the student loan, that those
abusive schools which perhaps saw the handwriting on the wall
may get out of loans and then go into the Pell Grant program
which, as you stated in your opening, does not have the type of in-
dicators which might alert the authorities to abuse that might be
ongoing. ’

We reviewed Department statistics and found that there very
well may be such a pattern. In the 10 years prior to the passage
of the 1992 amendments, there were only 80 or 90 schools that left
the student loan program and became exclusively Pell Grant pro-
grams. In only 2 years following the passage of the 1992 amend-
ments, that number jumped to, I believe, somewhere over 500
schools which left the student loan program and became exclusively
Pell Grant programs.

Senator NUNN. So on an annual basis, the number of them con-
verting from loans to Pell Grants went up 300 to 400 percent on
an annual basis?

Mr. EDELMAN. That is correct.

Senator NUNN. After the 1992 Act passed?

Mr. EDELMAN. Right, and of those schools that did that, more
than half were proprietary schools. So there does seem to be—this
is not to say that all of those schools that went from loans to grants
exclusively are abusive institutions, but there does seem to be a
pattern, and that may be something that the Department perhaps
should take into account in making its determinations in terms of
marshalling its limited resources for program reviews and audits.

Just to go back briefly to the Inspector General’s investigation
and its report, we would note that the tone of the investigation re-
port seemed to be in conflict with the initial intention of the In-
spector General’s office in 1992 to seek termination or prosecution
of IADE. It is apparent from Department documents that by De-
cember of 1992, the Inspector General’s office had changed its mind
about IADE. What exactly led to that change, though, is not clear,
particularly since the Inspector General’s investigation had uncov-
ell')ed what would have seemed to be clear indicators of fraud and
abuse.

The Subcommittee staff began its own investigation of IADE in
early April of 1994. On approximately April 12 of 1994, the staff
spoke with regional department officials about IADE and its sharp
increase in Pell Grant funding, and during the week of May 8
through 13, the staff conducted a field investigation in Los Angeles.

On May 17, only 4 days after the staff had concluded its trip to
Los Angeles, the Department’s Region X office recommended that
IADE once again be placed on reimbursement. In a telephone con-
versation with the staff on May 23, 1994, Frank Dvorak of the De-
partment’s Region IX office told the staff that the Department had
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put IADE back on reimbursement because of concerns over unre-
solved findings of the Inspector General’s audit. Mr. Dvorak then
freely admitted that the decision was made at that time because
of the involvement of this Subcommittee in investigating IADE.

On June 29, 1994, IADE, however, was taken off of reimburse-
ment. This time, it appears that the action was taken against the
wishes of the Department’s program offices. From internal Depart-
ment documents and interviews with Department employees, it ap-
pears that the Department’s Office of General Counsel unilaterally
agreed to a settlement with IADE under which the school would be
taken off of reimbursement in exchange for its establishing a
$500,000 letter of credit in the Department’s favor. The General
Counsel agreed to this settlement despite the fact that the audit
report on which the reimbursement action had allegedly been
based had found IADE liable for over $1.3 million in improperly
disbursed Title IV funds. .

Senator NUNN. So, in effect, the Department was owed
$1,300,000, but instead of continuing to not allow the school to
draw money in advance, to have them reimbursed after the fact,
they basically, in exchange for a $500,000 line of credit, put them
back on an advance payment basis?

Mr. EDELMAN. They gave them access once again to advance
funding for less than $.50 on a dollar.

For the past 5 years, this Subcommittee has been examining the
Department’s ability to oversee the operation and management of
the Nation’s federal student financial assistance programs. In hear-
ing after hearing, evidence has been presented documenting prob-
lems of mismanagement, incompetence, indifference, lack of re-
sources and training, lack of personnel, and perhaps a lack of will.
Time after time, the Subcommittee has heard from Department of-
ficials under both Republican and Democratic administrations that
they are committed to reforming the process and improving the in-
tegrity of the programs they oversee.

Certainly, Congress has attempted to help the Department in
this regard. The passage of the 1992 amendments gave the Depart-
ment a significant tool with which to address the issues of institu-
tional integrity and program fraud and abuse.

Despite the high hopes generated by the Department’s new ad-
ministration, the staff must once again report to the Subcommittee
about a massive failure on the part of the Department in carrying
out its fiduciary role of ensuring program accountability, a failure
which led to over $50 million of taxpayer money going to a school
which was little more than a Pell Grant mill. What is most disturb-
ing, however, is that the JADE case seems to be symptomatic of the
Department’s longstanding and continuing failure to accept its fi-
duciary obligations and to adopt a consistent and aggressive over-
sight mentality.

It is not the staff's intention to paint all of the Department’s em-
ployees with the same brush. There are many hard-working and
earnest employees within all levels of the Department who are
deeply committed to ensuring the integrity of the programs they
administer. The staff spoke with a number of such employees about
their own commitment and that of the Department. Unfortunately,
the feeling among these employees was unanimous that the De-
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partment’s approach to enforcement was uneven, inconsistent, and
easily susceptible to outside pressures, both institutional and politi-
cal.

For example, the staff was told that the statutory requirement
that institutions submit independent audit reports was “a joke” be-
cause the Department consistently had done nothing when institu-
tions failed to submit such a report. .

The staff was informed that there are approximately 3,100
schools which have not submitted their required audits, going back
in someé cases more than 5 years. According to employees inter-
viewed by the staff, until just last year when a new chief of the
Audit Resolution Branch was hired, no one in the Department had
ever taken responsibility for ensuring that audits are submitted as
required.

A number of employees were also concerned about the role
played by the Department’s Office of General Counsel. The former
director of the Compliance and Audit Division told the staff that
during her tenure she engaged in numerous battles with senior
management and the General Counsel’s office over enforcement is-
sues, and that while she ultimately was able to prevail in most in-
stances, she constantly had to defend, argue, and fight for the au-
thority to exercise enforcement decisions. She told the staff that the
General Counsel consistently intervened inappropriately in enforce-
ment matters both for and against taking enforcement actions, that
it viewed the program staff as incompetent and irrelevant, that it
refused to share information on matters in litigation until forced to
do so, and that it otherwise attempted to go beyond its role as legal
adviser and to control program decisions, particularly those involv-
ing settlement matters.

Other employees which the staff spoke with, including the former
director of the Institutional Monitoring Division and the former di-
rector of the Institutional Participation Division, told the staff of
what they perceived to be the Department’s failure to apply the
laws and regulations governing the student aid programs in a con-
sistent and even-handed manner. They were particularly concerned
that senior management constantly sought ways to help schools get
off of reimbursement, especially in the face of any overt or implied
political pressure.

Mr. Jack Reynolds, the former director of the Institutional Mon-
itoring Division, told the staff that he encountered difficulties in
his efforts to apply the Department’s certification regulations in an
even-handed and consistent manner. As director of the Institu-
tional Participation Division, Mr. Reynolds oversaw the Depart-
ment’s certification and eligibility procedures. He stated that there
were a number of times when he had to, “go head to head” with
senior management over recertification decisions. .

Mr. Reynolds felt that schools which could somehow plead their
case directly to senior management, sometimes with political influ-
ence, were often allowed to remain certified even when an objective
appr{)ach would find that they did not meet certification require-
ments.

The Department managers with whom the staff spoke were
unanimous in their view that intense political pressure was some-
times exerted on behalf of certain schools in other areas as well,
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by Federal and State officials of both political parties, and that it
sometimes succeeded in obtaining preferential treatment for those
schools, contrary to the career staff's decisions and contrary to
their view of the appropriate enforcement of the law. In particular,
it was noted that political pressure appeared to dictate many of the
decisions with regard to program reviews, audits, and reimburse-
ment cases.

In addition to a lack of consistency and even-handedness, it was
also felt that the Department failed to pursue an aggressive en-
forcement approach. In this regard, the staff was told of the reas-
signment of a Mr. Lee Hardwick, the former director of the Institu-
tional Participation and Oversight Service.

Mr. Hardwick was apparently informed by Dr. David Long-
anecker, the Assistant Secretary for Postsecondary Education, that
he was being reassigned because he was “too aggressive,” and be-
cause he “took this oversight stuff too seriously.” Mr. Hardwick
confirmed this conversation to the staff.

Staff was also told of other areas in which career employees felt
that the Department was going backwards in its enforcement ap-
proach. They were particularly concerned about the area of pro-
gram reviews. Previous Department policy had always been to con-
duct program reviews with advance notice given to the institution
under review. In May 1994, however, the career management with-
in the Institutional Participation and Oversight Service, with the
concurrence of the Department’s regional branch management, de-
cided to change that policy so that program reviews would be unan-
nounced. As the staff noted in its statement previously, advance
notice of various reviews allowed IADE to alter records and engage
in activities designed to deceive reviewers.

The decision to conduct Department reviews on an unannounced
basis took effect on July 1, 1994. In March 1995, barely 9 months
into the new policy, career staff was told by Marianne Phelps that
they would be given 1 week to justify the effectiveness of the
change or it would be reversed. Given the limited amount of time
for which the policy had been effective, it was difficult to gauge its -
long-term impact. Regardless, Ms. Phelps decided that there was
insufficient support for such a policy and it was subsequently re-
versed. According to the career staff, before the division even had
a chance to notify the regional reviewers of the reversal, Dr.
Longanecker had already publicly announced it.

The information provided by these individuals is quite disturb-
ing. They are all individuals who took on their positions deter-
mined to correct longstanding Department problems. They were
charged with development of a plan to do this and it appeared that
they were making progress in this area. Indeed, their career
records reflect a history of outstanding performance ratings. They
had turned the various divisions and branches of the Institutional
Participation and Oversight Service into a team that was working
together to bring a consistent and even-handed approach to over-
sight and enforcement.

Each of the career managers with whom we spoke were either
involuntarily reassigned or asked for reassignment from their posi-
tions. Whether the changes wrought by these managers will con-
tinue under'their replacements remains to be seen. The fact that
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these individuals were either relieved of their duties or felt it nec-
essary to ask for reassignment gives the staff great reason for con-
cern. The staff must therefore question where the Department
stands with respect to its responsibilities for program accountabil-
ity.

Almost 2 years ago, Assistant Secretary Longanecker appeared
at this table and, as had his predecessors in previous hearings, as-
sured the Subcommittee that he would strengthen the Depart-
ment’s monitoring and oversight efforts. Unfortunately, we are
back here once again with another multi-million-dollar failure on
the taxpayers’ hands and the same old questions about the Depart-
ment’s capacity and commitment to hold accountable those who
would abuse these important programs.

This concludes our presentation, Senator. We do have a bulky ex-
hibit containing numerous documents which we would ask be made
an exhibit to the record, and we would be happy to answer any fur-
ther questions you may have.

Senator NUNN. I think I have asked most of my questions as we
have gone along and I think that we had better get to our next
panel so we can complete this this morning. I thank both of you
for your hard work and all of the other staff who helped you.

Mr. EDELMAN. Thank you.

Senator NUNN. I will call the next three witnesses, Ms. Cornelia
Blanchette, who is the Associate Director of Education and Employ-
ment Issues, General Accounting Office; Mr. John Higgins, Jr., Act-
ing Inspector General, Department of Education; and Mr. David
Longanecker, Assistant Secretary for Postsecondary Education in
the Department of Education.

I will ask all of you to hold up your right hands and take the
oath.

[Witnesses sworn.]

Before we get started with the testimony of our witnesses here,
an announcement. The Subcommittee had planned to call the own-
ers of JADE American Schools. The school was owned by Abraham
Stofenmacher and his sons, Bernardo, Alejandro, and Sergio, each
of whom was also a salaried officer of IADE. I have been advised
by the staff that Abraham, Alejandro, and Sergio have voluntarily
absented themselves from reach of service of congressional sub-
poena. In other words, they are out of the country.

I would further note that the Stofenmachers are Argentine na-
tionals with extensive business interests in Argentina and South
America, and with other schools, I am told, going on in those coun-
tries. Certainly, it is my hope that the officials in those countries
will take note of these hearings and take appropriate action, both
civil and otherwise, if there are other actions that are indicated.

Bernardo Stofenmacher, who, in addition to being an owner, was
also CEO of IADE, was served with a subpoena and we were hope-
ful that he would be able to provide valuable information to the
Subcommittee as a witness. In response to this subpoena, however,
attorneys for Mr. Bernardo Stofenmacher informed the Subcommit-
tee orally and by letter that their client, if called to testify, would
assert his constitutional privilege against self-incrimination under
the Fifth Amendment and refuse to answer any of the Subcommit-
tee’s questions regarding the matter under investigation.
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We also have a practice of usually calling Fifth Amendment wit-
nesses because we have had occasions where they decided to testify
even after the Subcommittee had been notified by their attorney
that they would assert their Fifth Amendment privileges. We were
planning on having him here today to assert his privilege, but we
have received medical information from his doctor in writing about
immediate medical concerns of his wife, and in light of that we
have not compelled his attendance today, since he was also going
to assert his Fifth Amendment privileges. Without objection, these
letters will be made a part of the record.l

Senator NUNN. This Subcommittee always has, and will continue
to respect the right of any individual to avail himself of the privi-
leges under our Constitution. Unfortunately, the three remaining
family members who owned IADE are outside the jurisdiction of
this Subcommittee, as well as the reach of Federal law enforcement
authorities at this time. We were_ unable to locate them after the
school closed its doors in March of this year.

In my view, it would be tragic if they never have to answer for
their abuses in either a civil or a criminal forum for the kinds of
abuses that we have heard documented here today. It is indeed a
regrettable commentary that this school was operated by individ-
uals with so few ties to the community they exploited that they
could merely leave the country as soon as their misconduct was ex-
posed, and it is particularly tragic not only for the taxpayers, but
also more importantly for the students who have been deprived of
an education or skill training.

ﬁ‘At this point, I will ask Dr. Longanecker if he would like to lead
off.

-TESTIMONY OF DAVID A. LONGANECKER,! ASSISTANT SEC-
RETARY FOR POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION, U.S. DEPART-
MENT OF EDUCATION; ACCOMPANIED BY DONALD R.
WURTZ, CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Mr. LONGANECKER. For the record, I am David Longanecker. I
am the Assistant Secretary for Postsecondary Education within the
Federal U.S. Department of Education. I want to thank you for the
opportunity to be here again today, if for no other reason than to
help set the record straight.

Obviously, this is a little different testimony than the one I had
before. When I last appeared before you, I was basically promising
to do something, and today I am here to talk to you about what,
in fact, we have done. I am glad to do so, though, because I think
we have made substantial progress and I want to have the chance
to share that with you.

I am accompanied today by Don Wurtz, who is the Chief Finan-
cial Officer of the Department. Don does not have any prepared re-
?arks, but is available to respond to questions that you might

ave.

I have included my extended remarks for the record, and if it is
OK, would have those accepted for the record, but would speak
from abbreviated remarks.

1See Exhibits #37 and #38, pages 195 and 197.
1The prepared statement of Mr. Longanecker appears on page 114.
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Senator NUNN. Without objection.

Mr. LONGANECKER. I would like to address three areas today.
First, I would like to describe our substantial efforts over the past
2 years to improve our management and oversight of these impor-
tant Federal programs. Second, I will identify the areas that need
further work. And, third, I will share a proposal to adopt a fun-
damentally different, and we are convinced, far better approach to
oversight that we intend to pursue, hopefully with your assistance.

First, let me describe what we have done to improve these pro-
grams and-the proof we have that those efforts are working. We
are much tougher about letting risky schools into these programs,
in the first place, than we used to be. As you can see from the
chart that I have provided up there, Chart 1, institutions that
apply for recognition in our programs are much more likely to be
denied certification than in the past. They are about two-and-a-half
times more likely to be denied than was the case in 1990.

Indeed, the more rigorous review appears to be dissuading insti-
tutions from seeking recognition, with the average number of insti-
tutions applying for recognition decreasing by one-third over the
last 4 years. Again, you can see that on the chart.

We are also much tougher about letting risky schools continue to
participate in our programs. The share of schools seeking
reapproval that are denied has increased dramatically, from 15
percent in 1990 to 23 percent last year. Six hundred institutions,
about 8 percent of all of the institutions that currently participate
in our programs, have been placed on provisional certification, and
we have begun performing recertification reviews of all 7,200 insti-
tutions, many of which have not been recertified in 10 to 20 years.

We have added a number of management controls to monitor all
participating institutions. We now have one Social Security
match—that checks individuals’ name and date of birth against
their Social Security number—up and running, and another which
will help us determine citizenship that is in the process of being
developed. That latter one is a response directly to a report of our
Inspector General.

We have just recently brought up two major databases, the Na-
tional Student Loan Data System, which will help us improve not
only the management of the loan systems—it has that name to it—
but will also help us improve the management of Pell and other
student aid programs. We are also bringing up the Postsecondary
Education Participant System. Both of those data systems correct
concerns that were directly addressed by the GAO report, and both
are now up and running. They will be fully populated by the end
of this year.

Senator NUNN. Dr. Longanecker, a general question. How much
relationship and analogy 1is there between the Pell Grant program
as now administered—I am not talking about the changes you are
talking about making, but right now—and the direct lending pro-
gram that you are about to undertake?

Mr. LONGANECKER. Implementation of the direct lending pro-
gram has actually helped us improve the management of our other
student aid programs because it has allowed us to modernize a
number of other areas of the student aid delivery system. This situ-
ation arises because we have basically one student aid delivery sys-
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tem. So, as we deliver student loans using an improved, systems-
enhanced process for determining student eligibility and applying
for aid, direct lending is giving us the capability to modify our
other computer systems so that they can be as slick, if you will, in
providing us the kind of management controls that we have built
into that new system that we really need in our other systems.

Senator NUNN. Well, we have heard testimony this morning that
students never actually have to sign off on any document, or in this
case they didn’t, to get Pell Grants—at least no document that is
in the possession of the Department of Education. Is that accurate?

Mr. LONGANECKER. They have to sign the electronic Student Aid
Report (SAR), but that is not in our presence. They must sign a
promissory note for purposes of the student loan program.

Senator NUNN. But I am talking about Pell Grants. Students
don’t actually have to sign anything that is in your possession that
tells you that they know that their Pell Grant money is going to
the school? :

Mr. LONGANECKER. That is correct.

Senator NUNN. So, in effect, a school that wants to commit fraud
can basically make up the names of students and lie to you about
what they have got in their file in terms of something that stu-
dents sign, lie to you about whether the student is in school, and
simply get checks from the Government?

Mr. LONGANECKER. If there is fraud and forgery, there is a possi-
bility for that to go undetected. I have learned a great deal today,
and I am as appalled by what we are hearing today as you are. It
appears that that may well have happened in this case, and that
is terrible and we need to find better ways to detect fraud. Yet we
have to, I think, remember that we want a system that still is
manageable and that gets the funds out to the legitimate providers.

Senator NUNN. Right. That is the dilemma. I understand that.

Mr. LONGANECKER. Yes.

Senator NUNN. But in the loan program, you have to have a note
in your file, or the bank does or somebody does.

Mr. LONGANECKER. Yes, there needs to be a signed promissory
note.

Senator NUNN. Some independent party other than the one re-
ceiving the money—that is, the school—has to have something
signed by the student, right, in the loan program?

Mr. LONGANECKER. We receive a signed promissory note in this
case. I will get back to you to provide you precisely what is entailed
in the case of direct student loans. I would rather not say some-
thing that I am not absolutely positive of. .

Senator NUNN. It just looks to me on the surface of it, and I will
await your answer, that what you have got here is a program
where the person who is intended to be the beneficiary never is in
the loop on the Pell Grant program in terms of any direct acknowl-
edgement to the Department of Education, either through a note
or through a sworn statement, that they indeed are going to receive
this education and it is their intent to. :

Mr. LONGANECKER. Well, we do review those ESAR’s to make
S}llll‘e that they are available, but we don’t verify 100 percent of
them.

Senator NUNN. And you send the money out in advance?
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Mr. LONGANECKER. Yes, that is correct. We send the money out
to schools.

Senator NUNN. So the beneficiary of Federal money basically
goes to a third party who has a pecuniary interest without the ben-
eficiary ever having been in the loop as far as direct acknowledge-
ment to the Department of Education?

Mr. LONGANECKER. That is correct.

Senator NUNN. It seems to me you need to take a look at that
because that removes the whole customer check and balance.

Mr. LONGANECKER. Yes.

Senator NUNN. I mean, in the loan program they have to pay the
money back. In the Pell Grant program, you are removing the ben-
eficiary or the client, the one you are trying to help, from the whole
process.

Mr. LONGANECKER. One of the projects that I would mention, and
that I will be mentioning in a minute, is that we are developing
an entirely new computer system for the delivery of our student fi-
nancial aid that will interrelate all of our databases so that we can
follow each student. We are hopeful that via that process we can
eliminate the need for advance payment, that we can have a just-
in-time delivery which would not have money out there, essentially,
in advance, and that would require the appropriate validations.
With current modern technology, we ought to be able to achieve
that.

Senator NUNN. You would acknowledge that based on what we
have heard this morning, a school that can get $58 million in a pe-
riod of 5 or 6 years at a rapidly escalating rate from the Pell Grant
program and people who can remain undetected and leave the
country before any penalty is meted out—that is a pretty enticing
invitation to anybody who has bad motives around the country or
around the world, isn’t it? I mean, isn’t that a sort of an invitation
that we have got an open bank with no security guards and no tell-
ers?

- Mr. LONGANECKER. Yes, but I think as I can describe to you,
there are pieces of our gatekeeping that are in effect today that
would prevent an IADE from occurring today. Now, it is still con-
ceivable that a clever criminal may be able to achieve ill-gotten
gains in this program, but I honestly believe that, in this particular
case, there are three or four things that we have put in place as
a result of our heightened management, and as a result of the
amendments of 1992, that would have prevented this.

Senator NUNN. Well, I know computers can do wonderful things
and I don’t denigrate computer assistance here, and I hope you can
update your computers, but it seems to me that somehow or an-
other you have got to put the beneficiary in the loop. That is the
ultimate safeguard. That is the ultimate person to complain if they
get ripped off. That is the ultimate person that wants the education
and is being deprived of it when you basically have a school that
takes money and spends it on everything but books and edu-
cational materials.

So when you don’t have any contact between the beneficiary and
the Department of Education, it seems to me you really have re-
moved the ultimate check and balance, if there is going to be one,
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other than purely Government rules, regulations, bureaucracy,
checks, accountants, all of the mechanisms.

Mr. LONGANECKER. I am not going to argue with your point. That
is a very legitimate point, and I think we have some work yet to
do on that. I think the proposal that we will lay out here later in
my testimony also allows us the possibility of doing some more in
that regard. :

Senator NUNN. I don’t know whether you want to get so comput-
erized and electronically capable that the students don’t even ever
have to sign a check that is supposed to be for their benefit. It
seems like we have gotten that far.

Mr. LONGANECKER. We have gotten that far for the convenience
of the schools and to some extent for the convenience of the stu-
dents. But particularly with certain sectors of the community we
are dealing with, perhaps we have gone too far, and I will come
back and talk to you about that.

Senator NUNN. I would invite your attention to that area. I don’t
pretend to have the answer, but it seems to me that the student
has got to be in the loop somewhere.

Mr. LONGANECKER. Yes. I would tell you that we also think we
have improved by investing a great deal of effort and resources in
improving our gatekeeping. We have hired about 100 new staff. We
have developed a training academy for them. We have armed them
with new technology. All of them have lap top computers with a
substantial amount of customized software to help them look at the
schools. We have also given them training in how to detect fraud
and abuse, which is related to what we are talking about tod